2002

Jimmy Calhoun and John Calhoun v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company and Progressive Insurance Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to U.C.A. 78-2-2(3)(j)(2001).

ISSUES ON APPEAL

The following issues are presented on appeal:

1. Can Progressive sell John Calhoun (son) as policy of insurance which does not cover him while driving a relative's vehicle, without violating the mandatory coverage of U.C.A. §31A-22-303(1)(a)? The trial court's interpretation of a statute is reviewed *de novo*, as is the trial court's interpretation of a contract. *State v. Tooele County*, 2002 UT 8; 44 P.3d 680 (statutory interpretation reviewed as a matter of law); *Prince v. Bear River Mut. Ins. Co.*, 2002 UT 68; 56 P.3d 529 (reviews *de novo* trial court's interpretation of insurance contract in light of statutes). Also, summary judgment rulings are reviewed *de novo*. *Ahlstrom v. Salt Lake City Corp.*, 2003 UT 4; 2003 Utah LEXIS 11.
2. If Progressive can sell John Calhoun such a policy, even though it is specifically purchased to take advantage of the statutory named driver exclusion, does the Progressive policy independently satisfy John Calhoun's statutory insurance requirement, to allow State Farm to specifically name and exclude him from (father) Jimmy Calhoun's policy? Again, review of summary judgment construing an insurance contract, in the context of statutory requirements, is *de novo*. *Id.*

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES

1. U.C.A. §31A-22-303(7)(1998):

(7) A policy of motor vehicle liability coverage under Subsection 31A-22-302(1) may specifically exclude from coverage a person who is a resident of the named insured's household, including a person who usually makes his home in the same household but temporarily lives elsewhere, if:

(a) at the time of the proposed exclusion, each person excluded from coverage satisfies the owner's or operator's security requirement of Section 41-12a-301, independently of the named insured's proof of owner's or operator's security . . .

2. U.C.A. §31A-22-303(1)(a)(1998):

. . . a policy of motor vehicle liability coverage under Subsection 31A-22-302(1)(a) shall:

(i) name the motor vehicle owner or operator in whose name the policy was purchased, state that named insured's address, the coverage afforded, the premium charged, the policy period, and the limits of liability;

(ii) (A) if it is an owner's policy, designate by appropriate reference all the motor vehicles on which coverage is granted, insure the person named in the policy, insure any other person using any named motor vehicle with the express or implied permission of the named insured, and, except as provided in Subsection (7), insure any other person included in Subsection (1)(a)(iii) against loss from the liability imposed by law for damages arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of these motor vehicles within the United States and Canada, subject to limits exclusive of interest and costs, for each motor vehicle, in amounts not less than the minimum limits specified under Section 31A-22-304; or

(B) if it is an operator's policy, insure the person named as insured against loss from the liability imposed upon him by law for damages arising out of the insured's use of any motor vehicle not owned by him, within the same territorial limits and with the same limits of liability as in an owner's policy under Subsection (1)(iii)(A);

(iii) except as provided in Subsection (7), insure persons related to the named insured by blood, marriage, adoption or guardianship who are residents of the named insured's household, including those who usually make their home in the same household but temporarily live elsewhere, to the same extent as the named insured .

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. **Nature of the Case**

This is an appeal from summary judgment in favor of two insurers in an action brought by their insureds for liability coverage from an accident.

2. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

Plaintiff John Calhoun was a named insured with Defendant Progressive, while Plaintiff Jimmy Calhoun was a named insured with Defendant State Farm. They filed a complaint for damages from the failure of each defendant to defend and/or indemnify them from liability they incurred from an automobile accident. After deposing each insured, each defendant filed a motion for summary judgment, which was granted. The named insureds appeal.

3. Statement of Relevant Facts on Appeal

Jimmy Calhoun lived in Dugway, Utah, with his wife (not a party herein), for about 13 years, until about 1999. Jimmy's son, John Calhoun, also lived with him, except for a period of time (not relevant herein) in the early-1990's. (Jimmy Calhoun Depo., p. 6-8, R. 198). They alleged that they lived together in the same household at all times material hereto. (Complaint, ¶5, R. 2).

Jimmy Calhoun carried automobile insurance with State Farm for himself, his wife and son, John Calhoun, for a number of years prior to 1998. (Complaint, ¶7, R. 2). On November 11, 1996, State Farm informed Jimmy Calhoun that because of a combination of accidents and citations, it refused to insure John Calhoun. (Summary Judgment Memo. Of Progressive, p.2, R. 47). As a result, State Farm added a "named driver" exclusion to Jimmy Calhoun's policy which purported to deny coverage to John Calhoun. (Complaint, ¶9, R. 2). John Calhoun (the excluded "named" driver) bought insurance for a Mercury Topaz he was driving from an unidentified insurance company from Curry Insurance Agency (not a party to this action).(John Calhoun depo., p. 26:7-12; 32: 8-13, R.

50) This car was replaced with a Suzuki Samurai in 1997 (John Calhoun depo , p 33 13-34 3, R 50) The insurance on the Topaz was ultimately replaced with a policy of insurance on the Samurai from Progressive in August, 1998 This insurance was effective until August, 1999 (Summary Judgment Memo Of Progressive, p 3-4, ¶14, R 48-9)

On December 19, 1998, John Calhoun had mechanical problems with the Suzuki As a result, Jimmy Calhoun gave permission to John Calhoun to drive Jimmy Calhoun's Jeep Comanche pickup truck (Jimmy Calhoun depo , p 24 2-16, R 49) John Calhoun lost control of the Jeep on the 2100 South off-ramp from I-80, and struck two vehicles that were stopped on the side of the road (John Calhoun depo , p 19 12-24, R 49) Both Jimmy Calhoun and John Calhoun gave timely notice of the loss to both State Farm and Progressive (Complaint, ¶13, R 2) Despite the fact that both Jimmy Calhoun and John Calhoun had each purchased liability insurance coverage, neither State Farm nor Progressive has provided liability insurance coverage for this accident (Complaint, ¶14, R 2)

The State Farm policy purchased by Jimmy Calhoun obligated it to "pay damages which an insured becomes legally liable to pay because of [damage or injury to another]" The term "insured" is defined to include "3 the relatives of the first person named in the declarations [here, Jimmy Calhoun], 4. Any other person while using such car if its use is within the scope of consent " John Calhoun, the driver of the Jeep, was both a "relative" of the named insured, and a permissive user Thus, he qualified under both definitions However, State Farm had also issued a "named driver" exclusion by way of an endorsement, which stated that "WE [STATE FARM] SHALL NOT BE LIABLE AND LIABILITY OR OBLIGATION OF ANY KIND SHALL ATTACH TO US FOR BODILY INJURY, LOSS OR DAMAGE UNDER ANY OF THE COVERAGES OF THE POLICY

WHILE ANY MOTOR VEHICLE IS OPERATED BY John C Calhoun”. (State Farm S. J. Memo, ex. 5; R.235). Based upon this endorsement, State Farm refused to cover John Calhoun’s liability.

The Progressive policy purchased by John Calhoun provided that “we will pay damages . . . for bodily injury for which an insured person becomes legally responsible because of an accident . . .”. R. 143. However, the Progressive policy also excludes “bodily injury or property damage resulting from the operation or use of a vehicle owned by you or a relative, other than a covered vehicle”. R. 145. Of course, Jimmy Calhoun is a “relative”, and the Jeep was not a “covered vehicle”. Based upon this exclusion, Progressive also denied coverage for the accident. Because both insurers denied coverage, both John Calhoun and Jimmy Calhoun ended up uninsured for this accident. So, they sued. (Complaint, R. 1-3).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The named driver exclusion is only allowed if the excluded driver has other insurance. When John Calhoun tried to comply with this requirement of other insurance, Progressive sold him a policy that covered his use of any vehicle owned by someone else, except his own relatives. So when John borrowed, with permission, a Jeep truck owned by his father, Jimmy Calhoun, Progressive’s policy excluded him from coverage. This violated U.C.A. §31A-22-303(1)(a), especially when Progressive sold John Calhoun the policy specifically to comply with the statutory named driver exclusion requirements.

If the Progressive exclusion is valid, however, then John Calhoun had not independently satisfied the mandatory liability insurance requirements, leaving him without insurance to respond to the claims of the innocent other drivers involved in the December, 1998, accident. Therefore,

State Farm could not exclude John Calhoun as a driver, since this would leave him uninsured in circumstances which certainly occur all the time in every household with multiple family members and multiple insured vehicles

ARGUMENT

I.

A.

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

The Utah statutes requiring insurance have been read for the past twenty (20) years to require each owner of a motor vehicle to either buy insurance or be self-insured. The contents of the required insurance are set forth by these statutes. If a policy fails to provide the minimum coverage set forth in the insurance statutes, the policy will be read to include the statutory minimum coverage. See *Allstate Ins. Co. v. U.S.F.&G. Co.*, 619 P 2d 329 (Utah 1980). Justice Hall, having dissented in *Allstate*, conceded the point in the later case of *Dairyland Ins. Corp. v. Smith*, 646 P 2d 737 (1982), stating “if one opts to provide a policy of insurance to satisfy the security requirements for the registration of a motor vehicle, that the policy of insurance so provided must meet the further requirements of the Safety Responsibility Act ”

As a result of this statutory scheme of mandatory insurance coverages, efforts by insurers to exclude drivers from liability coverage have been struck down. One effort involves the so-called “named driver exclusion”. These policies exclude certain named drivers from liability coverage. In *Allstate*, supra, the insurer issued a policy to an employer, but specifically excluded from coverage

a named driver, a certain employee with a bad driving record. That named employee driver eventually was driving, crossed a centerline, and killed an oncoming driver. The *Allstate* court noted that the statute required an insurance policy to insure any person driving an insured vehicle with permission of the owner. Since the named employee driver was driving with permission, the statute required the insurance policy to cover him “because Pulliam [the named driver/employee] was driving with the express permission of Brookfield [the named insured/employer], **the named driver exclusion is void** in relation to the minimum level of liability coverage mandated by 41-12-1(k)[now 31A-22-304]”
Emphasis added

After the *Allstate* court struck down the named driver exclusion, the legislature later responded by adding what is now U C A §31A-22-303(7) in 1985. In order to exclude a named driver, the statute requires that the excluded driver satisfy the statutory requirement of insurance independently of the household insurance policy.

(7) A policy of motor vehicle liability coverage under Subsection 31A-22-302(1) may specifically exclude from coverage a person who is a resident of the named insured’s household, including a person who usually makes his home in the same household but temporarily lives elsewhere, if

(a) at the time of the proposed exclusion, each person excluded from coverage satisfies the owner’s or operator’s security requirement of Section 41-12a-301, independently of the named insured’s proof of owner’s or operator’s security.

Thus, the Legislature created a loophole in the statute requiring mandatory coverage for the named insured’s household, for a specifically named driver. The catch is that the excluded specifically named driver must independently carry the minimum liability insurance required by statute.

B.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED IN THIS CASE

This case arises from the intersection of the “named driver exclusion” in the State Farm policy purchased by Jimmy Calhoun, and the “owned vehicle” exclusion in the Progressive policy purchased by John Calhoun. The Progressive “owned vehicle” exclusion excludes from coverage liability for the named insured’s use of any other vehicles owned by the insured, which are not insured through the insured’s policy. Fair enough. But John Calhoun did not own the Jeep he was driving; it was owned by his father, Jimmy Calhoun. However, the Progressive “owned vehicle” exclusion also excludes any other vehicles, which are owned by other household members (such as Jimmy Calhoun), not insured under the policy of the named insured, John Calhoun. This creates the problem: John Calhoun and Jimmy Calhoun live in the same household. While each has purchased liability insurance for their separate vehicles, according to State Farm and Progressive, neither is insured while driving each other’s vehicles. Stated more formally, the question presented by State Farm’s policy is this: when Jimmy Calhoun bought the Progressive policy containing an exclusion for driving other vehicles owned by relatives in his household, such as his father, John Calhoun, did he independently satisfy the minimum liability required by statute, allowing State Farm to exclude him as a named driver? The answer to this question depends on whether the Progressive “owned vehicle” exclusion, which includes non-owned vehicles owned by relatives residing in the same household, is valid in the context of a policy purchased to comply with the requirements of U.C.A. §31A-22-303(7)(1998). If Progressive cannot exclude John Calhoun in this setting, then it must provide coverage, and State Farm does not. However, if the exclusion is valid, even though purchased to comply with the requirement of U.C.A. §31A-22-303(7)(1998), then has John Calhoun independently satisfied the mandatory liability coverage required for State Farm to specifically name and exclude him?

family members, but not insured, or insured for lower limits.

The “owned vehicle” exclusion is not a creature of statute, but a policy provision created by Progressive. The “named driver” exclusion is a creature of statute, but only applies if the excluded driver has independent coverage.

Here, the policy issued by Progressive fails to cover John Calhoun as a permissive user of a vehicle. As a result, John’s coverage through Progressive falls short of that required by statute. Because it falls short of the statutory coverage, John has failed to independently satisfy the requirements of insurance. Therefore, the statutory precondition to the named driver exclusion (*i.e.* independently satisfying the statutory requirement of insurance) fails, and the the named driver exclusion is void to that extent, at least to the extent of the minimum required liability coverage, and at least to the extent of covering the 1987 Jeep Commanche.

C.

DAIRYLAND II DOES NOT ANSWER THE QUESTIONS PRESENTED

State Farm argued below that this same factual setting arose in *Dairyland Ins. Co. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 882 P.2d 1143 (Utah 1994)(hereafter, *Dairyland II*), and that *Dairyland II* resolved the issue in favor of State Farm. The trial court in *Dairyland* held that, while the named driver exclusion applied, the permissive user coverage also applied, granting coverage. The *Dairyland II* court did not rule on the question presented in this case. Instead, the *Dairyland II* court reviewed the trial court’s decision, and found that the permissive user provisions did not override the named driver exclusion. The *Dairyland II* court specifically reserved judgment on the issue in this case:

We note that the [plaintiff’s] attorneys have failed to cross-appeal the portion of the

trial court's order which held that [the excluded driver] had been **properly** excluded from his parent's policy under subsection (7) of Utah Code Ann §31A-22-303. As noted above, that subsection allows a motor vehicle insurance policy to exclude a person who is a resident of the named insured's household only if "each person excluded from coverage satisfies the owner's or operator's security requirement of Section 41-12a-301, independently of the named insured's proof of owner's or operator's security." Utah Code Ann §31A-22-303(7). There is an issue as to whether a policy such as Dairyland's [here, Progressive] that fails to cover the primary insured when he or she is driving substitute vehicles from the same household constitutes independent insurance sufficient to satisfy the owner's and operator's security requirement under subsection (7). Although the [plaintiff's] counsel raised this argument in their brief on appeal, they neglected to appeal this issue by filing a notice of appeal and a docketing statement, and we therefore decline to consider it.

Dairyland II, supra, fn 5 (emphasis in the original). Thus, State Farm was wrong when it argued below that *Dairyland II* supported its position. *Dairyland II* supports neither side, as it carefully avoids suggesting any opinion on whether the named driver exclusion was actually valid, in light of the exclusion in the Dairyland policy.

Neither did *Dairyland II* resolve the question of whether the "owned vehicle" exclusion was valid in the context of insurance purchased to satisfy U C A §31A-22-303(7). The *Dairyland II* opinion states "[w]e need not decide whether this provision [U C A §31A-22-303] and others within the Code prohibit the "vehicle exclusion" clause contained in Dairyland's policy." *Dairyland II*, supra, fn 5. Thus, *Dairyland II* does not answer the issues raised by Progressive's policy either.

D.

PUBLIC POLICY REQUIRES NO GAP IN INSURANCE COVERAGE

The public policy of this State is set forth in the statutes requiring automobile insurance. In *Farmers Ins. Exch. v. Call*, 712 P 2d 231 (Utah 1985), the Utah Supreme Court stated that the mandatory insurance statutes "substantially changed the public policy of this state by mandating that

all Utah automobiles be covered by certain types of security. According to section 31-41-5 [predecessor to 31A-22-301, et. seq.], each automobile insurance policy used as security must qualify under the Safety Responsibility Act, U.C.A. §§41-12-1 to 41. . . This legislative action reflects a public policy requiring minimum coverage to protect innocent victims of automobile accidents.” In apparent response to *Allstate Ins. Co. v. U.S.F.&G. Co.*, 619 P.2d 329 (Utah 1980), which invalidated named driver exclusions, the Legislature created a narrow, limited way to exclude a named driver. The only way to do this, according to the statute, is if the excluded driver independently satisfies the financial responsibility statute. The obvious legislative intent is that there be no “gap”, that the minimum legislated insurance be available to injured victims of negligent drivers, whether the driver is the named insured, or an excluded driver. If, for whatever reason, the Progressive policy does not provide coverage, then the public policy reflected in the statute requires State Farm to bear the cost, not the innocent victims of this accident.

II

A

U.C.A. §31A-22-303(1)(a) REQUIRES PROGRESSIVE TO EXTEND COVERAGE

The Utah statutes requiring insurance have been read for the past twenty (20) years to require each owner of a motor vehicle to either buy insurance or be self-insured. The contents of the required insurance are set forth by these statutes. If a policy fails to provide the minimum coverage set forth in the insurance statutes, the policy will be read to include the statutory minimum coverage. See *Allstate Ins. Co. v. U.S.F.&G. Co.*, 619 P.2d 329 (Utah 1980). Justice Hall, having dissented in

Allstate, conceded the point in the later case of *Dairyland Ins. Corp. v. Smith*, 646 P 2d 737 (1982), stating “if one opts to provide a policy of insurance to satisfy the security requirements for the registration of a motor vehicle, that the policy of insurance so provided must meet the further requirements of the Safety Responsibility Act ” For a recent application of this principle, see *Arredondo v. Avis RentACar Systems*, 2001 Utah 29, 418 Utah Adv Rpt 3 (Utah 2001)(statute required primary insurer of rental car to provide statutory coverage to renter’s son, who was a permissive user not covered by policy)

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