2002

Jimmy Calhoun and John Calhoun v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company and Progressive Insurance Company : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Progressive policy in this case was an owners policy. As such, coverage followed the vehicles, not the individual insureds. When John Calhoun purchased his policy with Progressive, that policy covered his Suzuki Samurai. While coverage would be afforded to John Calhoun for his use of other vehicles, a specific exclusion was set forth in the policy disallowing coverage for John Calhoun’s use of other vehicles that he owned or that were owned by his relatives that were not listed on the declarations page of the policy. At the time of the subject accident, John Calhoun lived with his parents, Jimmy and Rosalie Calhoun. When the accident occurred, John Calhoun was driving a vehicle owned by Jimmy and Rosalie Calhoun, who clearly qualify as “relatives” under the Progressive policy. As such, because John Calhoun was driving a vehicle owned by a

relative that was not listed on the declarations page of his policy, coverage is not available under the Progressive policy.

In addition, Jimmy and Rosalie Calhoun maintained an insurance policy with State Farm. That policy specifically excluded coverage for John Calhoun.

Each of the insurance policies in this matter comply with Utah law and meet the minimum financial responsibility requirements. Unfortunately, neither provides coverage for John Calhoun in the situation underlying the current matter. The district court granted summary judgment in favor of Progressive and State Farm based on this fact, and this Court should affirm the lower court's rulings.

ARGUMENT

I. THERE IS NO COVERAGE UNDER PROGRESSIVE'S INSURANCE POLICY FOR THE USE OF A NON-LISTED VEHICLE OWNED BY A RELATIVE.

Utah Code Annotated section 31A-22-303(1)(a)(ii)(A) provides that an insurer shall:

[I]f it is an owner's policy, designate by appropriate reference all the motor vehicles on which coverage is granted, insure the person named in the policy, insure any other person using and of the named motor vehicles with the express or implied permission of the named insured, and , except as provided in Subsection (7), insure any person included in Subsection (1)(a)(iii) against loss from the liability imposed by law for damages arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of these motor vehicles within the United States and Canada, subject to limits exclusive of interest and costs, for each motor vehicle in amounts not less than the minimum limits specified under Section 31A-22-304. U.C.A. 31A-22-303(1)(a)(ii)(A)(2002 Supp.).

The Progressive policy in this matter complies with the Utah Financial Responsibility Act. John Calhoun purchased insurance for his 1987 Suzuki Samurai with Progressive. (See Progressive policy attached hereto as Exhibit A). Under the Progressive policy, John Calhoun was covered for the vehicle listed on his insurance policy, ie., the Suzuki Samurai. In addition, John Calhoun was also covered for the use of other vehicles. However, as part of the exclusion on the Progressive policy, John Calhoun was not covered for the use of vehicles that he owned but were not listed on the declaration page, nor was there coverage for vehicles that were owned by a "relative" that were not listed on the declaration page of the Progressive policy.

The Progressive policy clearly and specifically states:

EXCLUSIONS- READ THE FOLLOWING EXCLUSIONS CAREFULLY. IF AN EXCLUSION APPLIES, COVERAGE WILL NOT BE AFFORDED UNDER THIS PART I.

Coverage under this Part I, including our duty to defend, does not apply to:

12. bodily injury or property damage resulting from the operation or use of a vehicle **owned by you** or a **relative**, other than a **covered vehicle**.

(Exhibit A).

The term "covered vehicle" is defined in the Progressive policy as:

a. any **vehicle** shown on the **Declarations Page**

Similarly, the term "relative" is defined in the policy as "a person residing in the same household as you and related to you by blood, marriage, adoption, or guardianship whether or not temporarily away from home." (Exhibit A).

In the present case, the subject accident occurred while John Calhoun was driving his father's Jeep Comanche pickup truck. Because John Calhoun is the son of Jimmy Calhoun and was living in the same household as his father when the accident occurred, Jimmy Calhoun and John Calhoun are considered "relatives" under the terms of the policy. The Jeep Comanche owned by Jimmy Calhoun was not listed on the Progressive policy as a covered vehicle. As such, the exclusion set forth in the Progressive policy is applicable and precludes coverage for John Calhoun in the accident occurring on December 19, 1998.

The Utah Court of Appeals has addressed this identical situation and has upheld an exclusion containing the identical language as the Progressive policy in this case. In Hill v. Farmers Ins. Exch., 888 P.2d 138 (Utah Ct. App. 1994), Barbara Pellow, a sixteen year old girl, was involved in an accident with the plaintiffs. At the time of the accident, she was driving a 1981 Camaro owned by her mother. Barbara Pellow had permission to drive the vehicle from Mrs. Pellow. At the time of the accident, Mrs. Pellow owned a 1978 El Dorado and a 1976 El Camino in addition to the 1981 Camaro. All three of the Pellow vehicles were insured under separate insurance policies through Farmers Insurance. All of the Farmers policies provided that Farmers would "pay damages for which any insured person is legally liable because of bodily injury to any person and property damage arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of a private passenger car, a utility car, or a utility trailer." The definition of an insured in the Farmers' policy included "you or any family member". Id. at 139. Each policy also contained an

exclusion of coverage for “bodily injury or property damage arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of any vehicle other than your insured car which is owned or furnished or available for regular use by you or a family member.” Id. Like the Progressive policy, the term “insured car” was defined as the vehicle contained in the declaration sheet.

At the trial court level, Farmers filed a motion for summary judgment seeking to dismiss the plaintiffs claims against the insurance policies for the El Dorado and the El Camino vehicles. The plaintiffs argued that all three Farmers policies provided coverage for their injuries because the policies each stated that “we will pay damages for which any insured person is legally liable because of bodily injury to any person...arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of a private passenger car.” The plaintiffs argued that such language did not limit coverage to the insured car, and as such, coverage was available under all three policies. Id. The trial court disagreed however, granting Farmers’ motion for summary judgment, and recognizing that the plaintiffs did not read the policy as a whole, including the relevant portions of the policy that excluded coverage. Id.

The Utah Court of Appeals affirmed the district court’s findings, stating that “an insurer may limit its obligation to provide coverage by exclusions phrased in language which clearly and unmistakably communicates to the insured the specific circumstances under which the expected coverage will not be provided.” Id. at 140. The Court of Appeals determined that each of the policies contained an exclusion for “bodily injury . . .

arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of any vehicle other than your insured car, which is owned by or furnished or available for regular use by you or a family member,” and that such an exclusion barred liability which could arise out of the use of any vehicle owned by the Pellums, except for the insured car. Id. at 141.

In the present case, the identical situation to that in Hill occurred. John Calhoun purchased insurance from Progressive and listed his 1987 Suzuki Samurai as the insured vehicle. He borrowed his father’s vehicle, a Jeep Comanche that was not listed on the Progressive policy, and was involved in an accident. John and Jimmy Calhoun lived in the same household at the time of the accident and are related by blood. As such, Jimmy Calhoun’s Jeep Comanche is the vehicle of a relative not listed on the Progressive policy. As occurred in Hill, there is no coverage pursuant to the clear language of the Progressive exclusion.

Such an exclusion is valid under Utah law and should be upheld in this case. If such an exclusion was found unlawful, it would open the door for individuals to simply insure one vehicle, yet obligate insurance companies to provide coverage for all other vehicles in the household or in the household of relatives living under the same roof free of charge. Such a finding would violate public policy and would cause insurance rates to skyrocket.

II. THE CALHOUNS CANNOT ATTEMPT TO CREATE COVERAGE UNDER THE PROGRESSIVE POLICY THROUGH THE APPLICATION OF UTAH FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY ACT

The Calhouns have attempted to create coverage under the Progressive policy

through the application of the Utah Financial Responsibility Act. The Calhouns' arguments are misplaced however, as the Financial Responsibility Act does not mandate coverage in all situations.

U.C.A. §31A-22-303(1)(a)(iii) (2002 Supp.) indicates that, regardless of policy type, a policy may exclude specific named drivers. Furthermore, 31A-22-302 (1998) explains that certain types of coverage may be excluded. For example, uninsured and underinsured motorist coverage for bodily injury may be waived in Utah. Similarly, property damage coverage is optional. If an insured opts to forego property damage coverage or waives uninsured or underinsured coverage, the named insured has personally accepted the risk. As a further example, U.C.A. § 31A-22-303(a)(iii) provides that liability policies purchased to meet security obligations are required to insure persons related to the named insured who are residents of the insured's household to the same extent as the insured. However, an exception to this rule is provided in § 31A-22-303(7), which states:

A policy of motor vehicle liability coverage under Subsection 31A-22-302(1) may specifically exclude from coverage a person who is a resident of the named insured's household . . . if:

- I. [at the time of the proposed exclusion], each person excluded from coverage satisfies the owner's or operator's security requirement of Section 41-12a-301, independently of the named insured's proof of owner's or operator's security. . . .

A final example concerns the exclusion of vehicles from coverage. U.C.A. § 31A-22-303(1)(a)(ii) provides for additional requirements in liability policies purchased to meet

security obligations, stating:

- (i) If the policy is an *owner's* policy, it just designate all vehicles on which coverage is provided, and it must insure any person using those named vehicles with permission, including household relatives unless specifically excluded, or
- (ii) if the policy is an *operator's* policy, it must insure the named operator's use of any vehicle not owned by him.

In addition to the requirements regarding liability coverage, the Insurance Code contains numerous provisions related to Personal Injury Protection and Uninsured/underinsured motorist coverage. Section 31A-22-309(2) (1998) explains that Personal Injury Protection (referred to as "PIP" coverage) does not apply if an accident occurs when the insured is driving a non-covered household vehicle. Moreover, uninsured motorist coverage, unless waived, must provide a minimum level of coverage for *bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death* of the insured, household relatives, any person in a listed vehicle, and anyone in a vehicle of a self-insurer (as well as anyone entitled to recover because injury to those persons). U.C.A. § 31A-22-305 (1998). Benefits for property damage caused by uninsured/underinsured motorists is not required. U.C.A. § 31A-22-305.5 (1998). Finally, underinsured motorist coverage restricts benefits so that the insured is covered in a household vehicle only if that vehicle is listed on the policy. U.C.A. 31A-22-305(10)(a).

Beyond those requirements and restrictions, the Insurance Code also sets an overriding principal that any policy provision is authorized unless specifically prohibited. U.C.A. § 31A-1-103(2)(b) (2002 Supp.). Additionally, both statute and case law support

upholding exclusions and limitations of coverage where "phrased in language which clearly and unmistakably communicates to the insured the specific circumstances under which the expected coverage will not be provided." Eg. Hill v. Farmers Ins. Exch., 888 P.2d 138, 141 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (quoting Wagner v. Farmers Ins. Exch., 786 P.2d 763, 765 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) (upholding clearly worded exclusions where each of three insurance policies excluded coverage of a particular accident even though exclusions afforded no coverage for the particular accident); U.C.A. § 31A-21-308(1) (1998) (allowing limitations on insurers' liability by clear language); U.C.A. § 31A-22-303(1)(a)(i) (2002 Supp.) (requiring limits to be stated in the policy); Alf v State Farm Fire and Casualty Co., 850 P.2d 1272 (Utah 1993) (upholding a homeowners' insurance policy exclusion of losses due to earth movement and making the proximate cause rule inapplicable per the clear language of the policy). In determining whether exclusions are clear or ambiguous, the Court interprets "'insurance contract terms according to their usually accepted meanings' and 'read[s them] as a whole, [giving] effect to all of the policy provisions.'" Id. at 140 (quoting Nielsen v. O'Reilly, 848 P.2d 664,665 (Utah 1992)).

III. JOHN CALHOUN'S POLICY WITH PROGRESSIVE WAS AN OWNERS POLICY

John Calhoun's policy with Progressive was unambiguous as to its policy type. The Progressive policy is clearly an owner's policy because (1) the policy was purchased by John for the vehicle he owned, (2) the Declarations Page lists only John's vehicle; and

(3) the contents of the policy make clear that the policy covers *the vehicle owned by John* while also excluding in unmistakable terms any *non-listed household vehicles*.

In Utah, insurance coverage follows the insured vehicle, not the owner of the policy. U.C.A. § 31A-22-303(1)(a)(ii)(A) (2002 Supp.) specifically states that "if the policy is an owner's policy, it must designate *all vehicles on which coverage is provided*, and it must insure any person using *those named vehicles* with permission, including household relatives unless specifically excluded" (emphasis added). This statute makes clear that an owner's policy need not cover all vehicles, but must only list those vehicles that are covered under the policy. As an owner's policy, John Calhoun's Progressive policy met that requirement by listing his vehicle on the Declarations Page.

Significantly, the requirement made of an *operator's* policy—to insure the named operator's use of *any* vehicle not owned by him—does not apply to owner's policies. U.C.A. §31A-22-303(1)(a)(ii)(A) and (B) (2002 Supplement)(emphasis added). If the legislature had intended such a requirement for *owner's* policies, § 31A-22-303(1)(a)(ii)(A) would have included that requirement.

John Calhoun's policy with Progressive was an owners policy. It contained a standard exclusion which made it clear that the policy would not cover John Calhoun in every non-owned vehicle. The Progressive policy cannot be construed to be an operator's policy. As such, when John Calhoun drove his father's vehicle, he would either have to rely on the State Farm coverage which covered that specific vehicle, or, he could have listed his father's vehicle on his own policy. Because John Calhoun did not list the

vehicle on his policy, such a vehicle was not insured by Progressive.

IV. THE CALHOUN'S ESTOPPEL ARGUMENT MUST FAIL

The Calhouns further argue for coverage under the Progressive policy maintaining that John Calhoun obtained his insurance coverage through dealings with Jason Curry of the Curry Insurance Agency, and that Mr. Curry specifically represented that the Progressive policy would cover John Calhoun on all of the vehicles that he drove, specifically including the excluded vehicles from State Farm. Such an argument has no basis in Utah law as Jason Curry was an insurance broker, not an agent of Progressive, and had no authority to bind Progressive with his unfounded promises.²

Utah Code Annotated § 31A-23-309 states:

No person may represent himself as the agent of an insurer unless a written agency contract is in effect giving the person authority from the insurer and the insurer has appointed that person as its agent.

Further, Utah Code Annotated § 31A-23-102 defines a broker as:

an insurance broker or any other person, firm, association, or corporation that for any compensation, commission, or other thing of value acts or aids in any manner in soliciting, negotiating, or procuring the making of any insurance contract *on behalf of an insured* other than itself. (emphasis added)

The Utah Supreme Court has found that the existence of an agency relationship is determined from all the facts and circumstances in the case. An agent, so far as the insurer is concerned, is a person expressly or impliedly authorized to represent it in

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